1950

Lethea R. Fredrickson v. Dr. E. B. Maw and Dr. Floyd F. Hatch et al : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent commenced the instant action on October 23, 1948, to recover both special and general damages alleged to have been suffered following a tonsillectomy performed by one of the appellants, Dr. R. B. Maw.

The gravamen of the complaint was that Dr. Maw, "after the making of an incision or opening in the body of plaintiff," failed to remove from respondent's throat one or more of the pieces of gauze used in the course of the operation, and discharged respondent while in that condition.

After alleging the facts relating to Dr. Maw's employment to treat respondent, paragraph V of the complaint (Rec. 3) sets forth the acts of negligence in the following language:

"That in the course of said operation, and after the making of an incision or opening in the body of plaintiff in or about the area surrounding said tonsils of plaintiff, said defendants inserted gauze, threads or sutures in said wound or incision, and negligently and carelessly left, and caused and permitted to be left, in said wound, incision or cavity so caused by defendants in the performance of said operation, the said gauze, dressings, threads, sutures and other materials unknown to plaintiff, and defendants negligently and carelessly failed to remove the same, and negligently and carelessly caused and permitted the wound, incision or cavity in plaintiff's body to become and remain closed with such gauze, dressings, threads, sutures and other materials therein; and said defendants negligently and carelessly failed to discover the presence thereof or to advise plaintiff thereof, and negligently and carelessly discharged and released plaintiff from the further treatment of defendants with the said foreign substances within the body of plaintiff."

Appellants, by their answer, denied each and all of the alleged acts of negligence. (Rec. 13).

The cause was tried before a jury, resulting in a verdict in favor of respondent, on October 26, 1949, in the amount of \$5,199.00.

From the judgment entered on the verdict appellants' appeal.

In our statement of the facts of the case, we shall abstract, as concisely as possible, the testimony of all of the witnesses called by the parties.

RESPONDENT'S EVIDENCE

Respondent, who, for some time prior to the operation, had been afflicted with arthritis (Rec. 273-274), testified that prior to July, 1945, her health was good except for stiffness about the knees; that on July 6, 1945, she went to the Intermountain Clinic, in which Dr. Maw was one of the partners; that she went to the Clinic because of her arthritis (Rec. 236); that she was examined by Dr. Maw, and was told that there was pus in the tonsils and that the same should be taken out. (Rec. 81 to 83). Respondent submitted to the operation at the Intermountain Clinic on the morning of July 17, 1945, leaving the Clinic in the early afternoon.

She further testified (Rec. 87) that the nurse in charge told her to return in about three weeks; that during that period her throat remained sore; that when she returned she was informed that Dr. Maw was on his

vacation, and that she told the nurse that her throat felt like there was a lump in it; that she 'phoned the Clinic about ten days later, the nurse, a Miss Armour, answering; that she heard Miss Armour say, presumably to Dr. Maw, that it was Mrs. Fredrickson calling and that she, the nurse, a week before had seen an ulcer down her throat, and that Dr. Maw directed the nurse to tell respondent to come in to the Clinic; that respondent did go to the Clinic and saw Dr. Maw, and was told that a little drainage from the tonsil area and from the head was causing the throat to be sore. A salt water mouth wash was prescribed.

Continuing with her testimony (Rec. 92 to 96), respondent stated that she made further visits to Dr. Maw, at intervals of about three weeks, for a year and a half, during all of which time her throat remained sore, the last visit to the Clinic being on June 29, 1948.

Between July 17, 1945, the date of the tonsillectomy, and the Fall of 1948, respondent consulted, and submitted herself to examinations and was treated by, not less than twelve dentists and medical doctors, both general practitioners and specialists, beginning in the fall of 1945. (Rec. 162). Drs. W. L. Wright, Victor Sears, Ernest W. Browning and J. L. Calvert, were the dentists; and Drs. Boucher, R. O. Johnson, R. M. Muirhead, E. W. Boggess, E. M. Argyle, J. E. Nielsen, L. R. Cowan and D. A. Dolowitz, were the medical doctors. A Dr. Morgan, a dentist, and other dentists, had treated respondent prior to 1945; also Dr. Wright.

On January 22, 1946, six months after the tonsillectomy, Dr. Wright extracted all of respondent's then remaining teeth, ten front teeth from one jaw and eight front teeth from the other. All other teeth, three molars on each side, lower and upper, had been extracted prior to the tonsillectomy in July, 1945. Respondent at first testified (Rec. 96) she could not remember when her rear teeth, meaning the molars, had been extracted, but said that it was a good many years back. On cross examination, respondent's attention was directed to her deposition. She there stated that two or three rear teeth had been taken out by Dr. Wright before the operation, sometime between 1935 and 1945. (Rec. 166). When asked by her counsel if Dr. Wright had placed any fabric materials in the mouth at the time of extracting the front teeth, respondent replied "To my knowledge he put nothing in my mouth." (Rec. 97). In April, 1946, Dr. Wright made dentures for respondent. These she was unable to wear. A year later Dr. Wright made a second set of dentures, but respondent was still unable to use them. Her gums continued sore. (Rec. 99-100).

Respondent visited her family doctor, Dr. Boucher, in March or April, 1946. At that time, she stated, "there was an ulcer on the right — right in the hole of the tonsil, in the right." (Rec. 99). Afterward respondent consulted Dr. Muirhead (erroneously appearing in transcript as Moorhead), a dentist, in April, 1946, and also in 1947. The next doctor visited was Dr. Browning, an oral surgeon. This was in July, 1947. "He opened up the gums (lower jaw) just in, right in the ripper edge, just

a little bit to the left of the center, clear around, and just took a little fine needle and cleaned out the infection." Three days later the doctor cleaned out the socket of the eye tooth, respondent, referring to the upper jaw, stating that there was "just a little pus up there." No packs, gauze, absorbent cotton or any kind of fabrics were inserted or used in the mouth, nor was anything done around the tonsil area or the palate, Dr. Browning testified. Dr. Sears, also an oral surgeon, was present, and remodeled the dentures. These dentures also hurt her.

Still other doctors were visited by respondent, including Doctors Cowan and Nielsen, cancer specialists. Dr. Nielsen advised her that she didn't have a cancer; that it was purely infection. (Rec. 108).

Respondent visited Dr. Dolowitz, a throat specialist (Rec. 110), on May 10, 1948. She still complained of her throat. There was a big ulcer, she stated, about the size of a dime on the left side above the tonsil area. At the time of another visit, June 24, 1948, a biopsy was taken. Two days later, June 26, respondent said she had a terrific ulcer. While at home she was washing off the ulcer with peroxide and water, and, she stated, " * * * It just popped right open and I could see something hanging. I think I took a tweezers and pulled on that thing, and there was this ungodly ragged thing, all dripping with pus. It was terrible. * * * I washed it off with peroxide and water to get the things off, and I had this little mirror and I could see it. It looked like a piece of gauze or white material about $\frac{3}{4}$ of an inch

long." Respondent then went over to the neighbors, 'phoned to Dr. Dolowitz, and later visited him at his office, after seeing a neighbor and her daughter-in-law. (Rec. 114). At that time respondent thought the gauze was still in her throat "but evidently," she said, "I had swallowed it, and all that was left was the fragments. * * * He (the doctor) picked out the strings and sprayed it with penicillin and cleaned it out." On the occasion of further visits at the doctor's office, respondent stated that he pulled out other threads and showed them to her. On another occasion, when the doctor said that he didn't see any gauze hanging out, respondent watched her stool, and on June 29, she found some threads and put them in water in a pint fruit jar. Three or four weeks later, "it was all disintegrated and wasn't much left of it." (Rec. 117-118). Alcohol was then substituted for water and the material was retained by respondent.

Dr. Dolowitz, respondent further stated, never put any packs in her mouth, nor did he use any gauze or cotton.

The material seen in Exhibit A, respondent said, was what had come out of her mouth about six months ago. The ulcer would break and little pieces and fragments of material would stick out, and respondent would put them in alcohol, and Exhibit A is one of the bottles respondent used for that purpose. (Rec. 119-120).

Exhibits B, C, D, E and F, each containing a few threads or fabric, were offered and received in evidence, respondent stating that they came from sores and ulcers

in her mouth. Respondent first saw the material in Exhibit F on November 8, 1948. It was seen in the mouth on November 8 and recovered in the stool on November 10, 1948. (Rec. 121-126).

On cross-examination (Rec. 133) respondent stated that by reason of having looked into her mouth, she pretty much knew where the tonsil fossa or area was located. Her attention was called to Exhibit 1, being a photograph of a printed diagram or cut of the open mouth, showing the throat, tongue, tonsil area and the teeth on both sides not covered up by the protruded tongue. When ever she looked at her own mouth, respondent stated, she probably had her tongue extended out of the mouth, the same as the tongue appears in Exhibit 1. She knew the location of the uvula, and that there was a tonsil on each side. In referring to the depth of what she understood to be the tonsil area, respondent stated "It was just scooped out," and that she saw the scooped out condition on both sides of the mouth. After the tonsillectomy, respondent stated that she began to make observations in the mouth about a month later. Since then, she had looked at her mouth many, many times. (Rec. 137-138). Further in her cross-examination (Rec. 144), respondent said that when she first started to look at her throat about one month after the tonsillectomy, the tonsil area was a little deeper than the rest of the throat.

The ulcer on each side, the witness said, would disappear and then come back, pretty much in the same place. One was *just above the tonsil area* on the left

side; another was on the right side and *behind the tongue*. The ulcer on the right side spread onto the tongue. The one on the left side was higher, *just above the tonsil area*, somewhere midway between the place where the last tooth had been and the tonsil area. The ulcer on the right side was hooked on back of the tongue, that is, back into the side of the tongue where the tongue hooks onto the teeth. Respondent couldn't tell how many strings she pulled out from the ulcer on the left side; once in a while the strings would be caught in her false teeth. (Rec. 149-150). The first material respondent pulled out from any of the ulcers was on December 31, 1948. (Rec. 151). That would be from the ulcer on the left side. Respondent reached back into her mouth with her fingers and pulled out a string or a piece of material. This material is shown in Exhibit A. (Rec. 152-153). The material in Exhibit B was taken out between April 28 and May 22, 1949, and the material in Exhibits C and D was taken from the ulcer on the left side. (Rec. 154). The material in Exhibit E was on respondent's tongue, she stated, and she reached in and pulled it out. Exhibit F was the material recovered in the stool. (Rec. 155).

Respondent, during the four years prior to the trial of the case, consulted and visited the doctors and dentists hereinbefore named, and went back to most of them many times. To each she explained that a tonsillectomy had been performed and to each she complained about her continuing sore throat. They looked into her mouth and made an examination of the throat. (Rec. 164-165).

In January, 1946, Dr. Wright extracted the eighteen front teeth. All of the back teeth were extracted prior to that time. But as to when respondent was unable to say definitely. (Rec. 167-169).

The doctors whom respondent visited, beginning a few months after the tonsillectomy, would examine the throat and give dosages of penicillin. Dr. Wright, in January, 1946, when he extracted the eighteen front teeth, did not, respondent said, to the best of her knowledge, put any packs or sponges in her mouth. Upon being interrogated further, she stated it was as far as she wanted to go, to say that "I didn't see anything that would give me an idea he would do it." (Rec. 175).

Dr. Davis Augustus Dolowitz was next called and testified for respondent. (Rec. 182). He first became acquainted with respondent on May 10, 1948, on the occasion of a visit to his office. He examined respondent's ears, nose and throat. In the mouth there was a small lesion about a c.m. square, at the junction of the hard and soft palate, on the left side. The lesion, pointing to Exhibit 1, he stated, "would be about $\frac{2}{3}$ of the way to the tooth, about a third from the tooth and $\frac{2}{3}$ from the tonsil." In making this statement, reference was made to the last upper tooth. (Rec. 186-187).

On cross-examination (Rec. 193), the doctor marked, by red curved lines on exhibit 1, the position of the front pillar of each of the two tonsils. The Exhibit, he stated, showed fairly accurately the relative position of the teeth, the upper teeth to the lower teeth, and their posi-

tion in the mouth. Right in the center of the diagram, on Exhibit 1, the uvula, protruding downward, is seen. (Rec. 194). The doctor said that in using the terms right and left, in fixing the location of an ulcer or abcess in the mouth, he did that from the standpoint of the patient; that the dark area back of the uvula, on Exhibit 1, was the gullet or air space; that the width of the gullet would be about 2 or 2½ inches, and the depth of the gullet from the lower tip of the uvula to the rear of the mouth would be about a half inch; that the uvula is separated from the back of the mouth. (Rec. 196). On Exhibit 1, beginning near the center of each side of the uvula, and extending downward toward the tongue, there is a series of curved lines. The line nearest the center on each side, and joining the dark area, indicates the position of the back pillar. (Rec. 197). Between the front and back pillar on each side is the tonsil fossa, in which the tonsil is located. The red line on Exhibit 1, intersected by red crosses, and extending latterly somewhat above the front pillars of the two tonsils, represents the division between the soft and hard palates. Above the line would be the hard palate; below, the soft palate. (Rec. 203).

On further cross-examination (Rec. 201) Dr. Dolowitz, testifying with his daily record before him, summarized his findings of respondent's mouth as follows:

May 10, 1948. One small lesion about a c.m. square at the junction of the hard and soft palate on the left side. A lesion represents anything abnormal. Later, when it was found the lesion was not a cancer, it was

identified as an ulcer. This was the first ulcer shown to or seen by the doctor. At the time of the doctor's examination, respondent had no teeth.

The position of the ulcer which the doctor saw on May 10 is shown on the Exhibit by a red circle, identified with the figure 1, placed just to the side; the circle is approximately the size of the ulcer. (Rec. 204). The position of that ulcer is closer to the normal position of the rear molar on the upper left side than it is to the front pillar of the tonsil, the doctor stated.

May 14, 1948. On this day the doctor saw a good sized ulcer, slightly closer to the gum. Its position is shown on Exhibit 1 by a red circle, marked with the figure 2. Part of that ulcer was taken out in the biopsy. (Rec. 207). Ulcers Nos. 1 and 2 were in fact but one; the second was the enlargement of the first; in taking out the section on May 10, a larger area was made. The ulcer, as seen on that day, was half in the soft and half in the hard palate. No other lesions, up to May 14, were seen by the doctor. (Rec. 208-209).

May 20, 1948. The entire ulcer area was healing.

May 29, 1948. The ulcer area of May 10 and 14 had healed. A further small ulcer had appeared. This is identified by the figure 3 on Exhibit 1, below the position of the last tooth on the left side of the upper jaw. (Rec. 211).

June 24, 1948. Both ulcers Nos. 1 and 2 had reopened. Another biopsy was taken. (Rec. 211).

June 26, 1948. A small ulcer, between Nos. 1 and 2 on Exhibit 1 was seen. It was smaller than one c.m. in diameter. (Rec. 213-215).

June 28, 1948. Respondent stated she had pulled out a slough of dry blood and cotton. On June 28 the abscess was deeper than the one seen on the 26th. The foreign material, seen by the doctor, was thread. He saw respondent off and on between June 26 and July 5, 1948, and little change was noted. (Rec. 216-217).

July 29, 1948. An ulcer had broken out on the right side and a little bone chip came loose. The position of this ulcer, on Exhibit 1, is shown by a circle marked 4. The bone chip, about the size of 2 or 3 pinheads, was imbedded under the ulcer. Respondent insisted it had a feeling of a piece of gauze, but none was found; instead, the bone chip was found. (Rec. 219).

August 31, 1948. Another tiny bone fragment, about the same size as the other, was protruding from ulcer No. 4. The fragment was removed. (Rec. 219-220).

September 16, 1948. Ulcer No. 4 was still draining; it was probed and a small bit of bone removed. This was the third piece from No. 4. (Rec. 220).

September 23, 1948. On this day a small white mass had worked its way out to the surface; it looked like cartilage with a small green core, which would be infected material. Cartilage is found, the doctor stated, pointing to a place near ulcer No. 4, in the palate region and elsewhere. (Rec. 221).

November 16, 1948. The doctor stated he observed "a small ulcerated area left, coming level with the left buckle surface, a small granulation was removed with a thread in the center." This, he further stated, would be in the area of the last tooth, on the outside, and is shown on Exhibit 1 as ulcer No. 5, located on the left side of the upper jaw. Proud flesh, diseased tissue, was removed and the thread found. (Rec. 222-224.)

Mrs. Vera Mathews (Rec. 241), and Mrs. Ellen Rupp (Rec. 255), friends of respondent, Sherman Fredrickson (Rec. 259), husband of respondent, Betty H. Fredrickson (Rec. 270) daughter-in-law of respondent, testified that respondent, after the summer of 1945, lost weight, suffered with a sore throat and mouth, was depressed a lot, and, at times, that they saw pieces of gauze and threads on the sides of her mouth; also, that respondent was having trouble with her gums and had her teeth extracted in 1946. Respondent's condition improved after 1948.

Betty H. Fredrickson, respondent's daughter-in-law, when asked as to where the sores she saw in respondents mouth were located, testified as follows:

"A. Well, there have been so many occasions that I have been shown them. I just have a recollection of a lot of them on various occasions, and I would say they showed up in several places, but, when you just have a throat and it is around in there, it is around the gums and up into the sides; that is about—I can't locate them definitely." (Rec. 273).

Again, in replying to the question as to whether she had noticed any difference in respondent's physical condition in 1945, she said:

"A. Well, I know that before she had the tonsillectomy, she had been having a great deal of trouble with arthritis, and she was in a rather bad mental state because she had such a fear of arthritis, and we were all very concerned about that; and, after the tonsillectomy, I think she started showing some relief, and definitely, later on, she did, got better gradually, I believe, and till she got relief from the arthritis." (Rec. 273-274).

When asked to locate a small piece of material, the tip of which she stated she had seen in respondent's mouth, the witness said:

"A. It was still imbedded in the mouth.

Q. On which side?

A. Well, it was on the right side of her mouth, I believe.

MR RICH: You pointed to the left.

A. Well, I was looking at it this way; it would be on her right. I was looking into her mouth; wait a minute, oh, dear, oh, I can't say that I remember because there was another sore.

Q. In the mouth at the same time?

A. No, later on; as I say, I have seen so many of them.

Q. All right.

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