1950

Lethea R. Fredrickson v. Dr. E. B. Maw and Dr. Floyd F. Hatch et al : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

She testified that she was getting no relief or satisfaction from Dr. Maw or the Clinic and she naturally suspected that her teeth might be the source of the trouble. She didn't know that the cause lay imbedded in some gauze left there in her throat by the only individual that ever performed any surgery there. So she

went to her dentist, Dr. Wright. He was as helpless in his inability to diagnose her difficulty as the rest of the doctors. He said he couldn't say for sure whether it might be her teeth. It might or might not be. He left it up to her to decide, which was his practice in cases of doubt. In leaving the ultimate decision to the patient he followed the same practice as Dr. Maw and Dr. Tyndale. In the initial diagnosis of plaintiff's condition they felt that the tonsils might be the cause of her arthritis but they left it to her to decide as to whether they should be removed. She decided to try it, since it was at least a chance for recovery, which was more than she had been able to get from the doctors, including Dr. Maw and the Clinic. So her front teeth were drawn in the faint and futile hope that it would be a solution. But that too was ineffectual. The cause was not there. It lay deeper in the gauze imbedded in her throat.

Only after the cause and source of the infection was found did she and the doctors find the truth.

But in the meantime she suffered four years of physical, mental, and social distress, including the permanent loss of her teeth—all to no purpose—in her frantic efforts to find the cause of her trouble.

Counsel states that this was no evidence of permanent injury. We have never heard of teeth coming back in at the age of 54; and who are we to say that her mental and physical health was not impaired, at least to some degree, permanently. For four years she had those pieces of gauze in her throat, as collecting and

breeding places for bacteria and infection, sending their pus into her system and particularly her mouth, gums and teeth.

The evidence as to the loss of her teeth and the reason for their withdrawal was not objected to nor was there any motion made by counsel for it to be stricken as an element of damages.

If there were any dispute or uncertainty as to whether the infection in the mouth was the cause of removal of the teeth, counsel himself removed that doubt. He asked the question of Mrs. Matthews (R. 250) and she said it was because of the sore throat. He asked Mr. Fredrickson why she had her teeth removed (R. 265). His answer was as follows: "Because she had a bad condition in her throat." He asked the same question of Dr. Wright (R. 339) and was told that it was because she was having trouble and thought the teeth might be the cause.

There are some injuries that are objective in character and are in the very nature of themselves permanent in character. Loss of a portion of the body and disfigurement are of that type. The jury knows they are permanent without being told by a doctor.

Counsel says there was no casual connection shown between the malpractice of Dr. Maw and the extraction of the teeth. He says the teeth were removed because of pyorrhea. Pyorrhea is the result of infection. Dr. Wright did not testify that he took the teeth out because of pyorrhea. He said he took them out because

of the diseased condition of her throat in the hope that it might help.

The fact that both Dr. Wright and Mrs. Fredrickson may have been in error in this decision is not a matter that Dr. Maw can complain about. They had a condition created by Dr. Maw that none of the doctors had been able to diagnose or treat because the existence of the foreign body in the throat was not known then. Even Dr. Maw had been erroneously treating it for sinus infection.

This is a similar situation to the one considered by this court in *Gunnison Sugar Co. v. Industrial Commission of Utah*, 73 Utah 535, 275 Pac. 777.

In that case an injured man went to a doctor who erroneously diagnosed his condition as rheumatism and recommended he have his teeth out, which he did. It subsequently developed that his back was injured and that his teeth had nothing to do with his condition. This court held that the loss of the teeth was a compensable injury arising out of the accident for which allowance should be made.

It is, in any event, very evident in this case that the jury made no substantial allowance for permanent injuries. The verdict of \$5,000 for over four years of physical and mental suffering, humiliation and terror of cancer, is certainly not excessive. In fact it was niggardly. She should have had many times that amount. Dr. Maw was the first one to put the cancer thought in

her mind when he saw an ulcer near the root of her tongue and asked for a sample for analysis. She asked if he suspected cancer and he said he wouldn't say it was but it didn't look good. From then on to the time when Dr. Dolowitz uncovered the hidden gauze cancer was the first thing that each new doctor suspected, and it was the thing that caused Drs. Browning and Sears to send her to Dolowitz. As Mrs. Fredrickson said, she was in a state of mortal terror throughout this entire time. Certainly defendant was not prejudiced by this instruction because the jury allowed only a very nominal amount for such terrible injuries.

Anything that counsel for plaintiff failed to ask in the way of connecting up the loss of the teeth with the throat condition was well taken care of by counsel for defendant.

It is not claimed in this case that the verdict is excessive, because it obviously is not. No such contention is made. The error, if any there were, is purely technical. Inclusion of the words, "if any" in the instruction had the effect of leaving it to the jury to determine the nature and extent of the damages *as shown by the evidence*. In other instructions the jury was told that in considering this question they should not be guided by sympathy or prejudice and that they should consider only the evidence introduced in the case.

Where the verdict is not excessive and no error is assigned upon the ground that the verdict is excessive under the evidence, the appellate court will not regard

any such purported error as prejudicial, even though it were to be technically so, which in this case it is not.

The general principle is well stated in 5 C. J. Sec. 1146 (Sec. 1773b, Appeal and Error), as follows:

“Erroneous instructions as to the measure of damages or the amount of recovery do not constitute a ground for reversal where it is apparent that the jury were not influenced or misled thereby. Error in instructions will be considered harmless where * * * the amount awarded was fully justified by the evidence, was not excessive, or was for a smaller amount than the evidence showed or tended to show plaintiff was entitled to;”

The authorities uniformly hold that where the appealing party does not claim or establish that the verdict is excessive that no prejudicial error is shown, even though it were to be shown that the instruction is technically erroneous.

Barlow v. S. L. & U. R. Co., 57 Utah 312, 194 Pac. 665.

The court in its instruction on the measure of damages said they might consider the cost of nursing, with reference to which there was no evidence. The verdict was not excessive and this court refused to reverse the case on that technical ground.

“In instructing on the measure of damages the court informed the jury that if the verdict was in her favor plaintiff was entitled to such damages as would compensate her for all pain, suffering, and distress of mind and body, *if any*

which she had endured, or which she would endure in the future as a result of such accident; also injuries to her person received by her, if any, as a result of such accident; also for any permanent injuries sustained by her, if any, as a result thereof, together with all reasonable and necessary expense, if any, as shown by the evidence, which she paid or incurred for nursing and for medical expense in her attempt to relieve herself of the injuries sustained, and also any necessary and reasonable sum which she paid in removing herself from the place of injury to her residence, and from all the facts and circumstances as shown by the evidence to award plaintiff such an amount as would compensate her for all of the injuries and damages by her sustained. No evidence whatever was introduced showing the respondent paid anything for nursing or incurred any expense therefor. The jury knew what the evidence was, knew that nothing had been paid for nursing, and that there was no evidence of any obligation having been incurred therefor. There is no reason for thinking that when \$2,999 was decided upon as the proper amount of respondent's damages an imaginary and conjectural amount for nursing was included. Technically the court erred in referring to expense of nursing. Nevertheless, we do not think that with the qualifying words 'if any' the instruction could possibly be misleading. *Bergstrom v. Mellen*, 192 Pac. 679."

This was substantially what was held by this court in *Olsen v. Kress*, 87 Utah 51; 48 Pac. (2d) 430. No one testified in that case as to future pain and suffering. The trial court included that element in the instruction on the question of damages but inserted the words "if any" as a part of the instruction. Counsel for defendant

excepted to the instruction on the ground that there was no evidence to sustain the same. The trial court, however, instructed the jury, as it did in this case, that they should be guided solely by the evidence in that regard. This court refused to reverse the case upon that ground.

“On the question of damages the trial court instructed the jury that they must first determine whether plaintiff suffered a miscarriage as a proximate result of the accident. If they found that she did not so suffer, then they should not include any damages for miscarriage or for any pain and suffering therefrom, but only such pain and suffering and impairment of ability as *may have resulted independent of the miscarriage, and they should then ‘only take into consideration such bodily pain and suffering caused by such injuries, if any, as you may believe have been shown to have resulted proximately from the accident or which in the future you believe she may suffer. If you believe from the evidence she may suffer any pain in the future.’* Defendant excepts to this instruction for the reason that there is no evidence to support future pain and suffering unless the miscarriage was caused by the accident. However, the evidence shows that plaintiff’s leg was bruised and she had pains all around the lower part of her body and back and that these pains have continued. Whether these injuries and pains were connected solely with the miscarriage and so should not be considered if the miscarriage were eliminated from consideration was a question of fact which the jury should pass upon. The trial court could not, nor can this court say, as a matter of law, that these injuries and pains were a part of the injuries and pains growing out of or insepar-

ately connected with the miscarriage. Whether there would be future pain resulting from the injuries other than those incident to the miscarriage was likewise a question for the jury. We see no error in this instruction."

Briley v. White, Ark., 193 S.W. (2d) 326.

The court gave a general instruction on the measure of damages in a personal injury action similar to the one in the case at bar. Defendant assigned error on the ground that there was no evidence of permanent injury. The appellate court refused to reverse the case upon the ground where it was not claimed or shown that the verdict was excessive.

"While attending physicians expressed the opinion that the boy would have normal use of his leg upon complete healing, which admittedly had not taken place at the time of the trial, there was substantial testimony from which the jury might have inferred that his injury was more than a temporary one. Furthermore, it cannot be said with certainty that when the shock of such an injury, the slowness of the healing process, the pain and suffering undergone by the appellee, and his loss of a year's school work are considered the jury's verdict was grossly excessive, even if no permanent damage to the leg was shown. In this view of the matter, the instruction complained of, even though objectionable, was not prejudicial. Dallas & Gulf R. Co. v. Steel, 108 Ark. 14, 156 S.W. 182, Ann. Cas. 1915B 198.

See also the following authorities to the same effect:

Hecker v. Union Cab Co., 134 Ore. 385, 293 Pac. 726.

Ball v. Gessner, 185 Minn. 105, 240 N.W. 100.

Romann v. Bender, 190 Minn. 419, 252 N.W. 80.

Snyder v. Western Union, (Mo. App.) 277 S.W. 362.

Jacklich v. Starks, 338 Ill. App. 433, 87 N.E. 2d 802.

It is a jury question as to whether injuries involving mental and physical distress and illness resulting in great loss of weight is or is not of a permanent nature. This in addition to the loss of teeth fully justified the trial court in giving instruction No. 12 in leaving to the jury to determine the question and include an allowance therefor if it so found. There was no prejudicial error, particularly where no claim is made that the verdict is excessive, which it obviously is not.

POINTS 4 AND 5

These points have to do with the propriety of the trial court's ruling on the right of defendant, upon cross-examination of Dr. Dolowitz, to go into matters not covered by the direct examination, namely, his professional opinion as to whether gauze left in the tonsil area could travel to the place of ulceration from which gauze, threads, or strings were removed by him and by Mrs. Fredrickson as told to him by Mrs. Fredrickson.

Objections to the questions were made by plaintiff upon the ground that it was not proper cross-examination as the subject matter had not been covered in the

direct examination. The trial court sustained the objection and thereafter defendants called Dr. Dolowitz as their witness and the subject matter was covered by defendants by the same witness as a part of defendants' case.

To these points plaintiff says:

(a) The trial court was right in its rulings; and

(b) If there was any error, which plaintiff denies, it was not prejudicial.

A reading of the direct examination of Dr. Dolowitz as plaintiff's witness shows that he was asked only to state the facts as he found them and what he saw and did. He was nowhere asked for his professional opinion as to the source of the foreign substances, whether they arrived at the point of ulceration from the tonsil area or any other place by migration or whether they were originally deposited there by someone.

It will be noted that the discussion of these points is presented by appellant without citation of authority. Counsel either found no authorities sustaining their position or found them adverse to their contention. The principle involved is not new. The cross-examination may not go beyond the scope of the subject matter covered by the direct examination. Any matters and things tending to vary, contradict, modify or explain the direct examination may be covered by the cross-examination.

Dr. Dolowitz was called as any other witness to testify as to facts. The fact that his relationship to plaintiff was shown as physician and patient was shown not for the purpose of qualifying him as an expert to express an opinion but to show the circumstances under which he learned and observed the facts to which he was testifying.

The applicable rule of law is well stated in 58 Am. Juris. 474 (Witnesses Sec. 844) as follows:

“In the event an expert witness has testified to facts observed by him, and not to his opinion based thereon, he cannot be cross-examined as to his professional opinion, nor will questions be allowed to be put to him which tend merely to discredit him, and in no way affect the value of his testimony.”

The cited authority is *Enos v. St. Paul F. & M. Ins. Co.*, (S. D.) 57 N.W. 919. The case is in point and sustained the announced principle.

The extent and character of cross-examination to be permitted under the announced limitation is in the sound discretion of the trial court, and its rulings will not be a ground of reversal unless abuse of discretion is shown.

Malia v. Seeley, 89 Utah 262, 57 Pac. (2d) 357.

Anderson v. S. L. & O. Ry., 35 Utah 509, 101 Pac. 579.

The general principle that the cross-examination may not go beyond the scope of the direct examination

is announced and applied by this court in the following cases :

Tuft v. Brotherson, 106 Utah 499, 150 Pac. (2d) 384.

State v. Murphy, 92 Utah 382, 68 Pac. (2d) 188.

State v. Bruno, 97 Utah 33, 92 Pac. (2d) 1103.

Jensen v. Kress, 87 Utah 434, 49 Pac. (2d) 958.

Dr. Dolowitz subsequently appeared as an expert witness for defendants and expressed his opinions on the same subject matter attempted to be covered on cross-examination. Defendant was not prejudiced If there were any error, which we deny, it was harmless and was cured by the subsequent evidence of Dr. Dolowitz.

Malia v. Seeley, 89 Utah 262, 57 Pac. (2d) 357.

In re Bryan's Estate, 82 Utah 390, 25 Pac. (2d) 602.

Colorado Milling & Elevator Co. v. Proctor, 58 Idaho 578, 76 Pac. (2d) 438.

Radermacher v. Radermacher, 59 Idaho 716, 87 Pac. (2d) 461.

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